**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

**No. 20-1148**

---

**ANDREW LENNETTE, Individually  
and on behalf of C.L., O.L. and S.L., minors**

**Plaintiff-Appellant**

**v.**

**STATE OF IOWA, MELODY SIVER, AMY HOWELL, and  
VALERIE LOVAGLIA,**

**Defendant-Appellee**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARY E. CHICCHELLY, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLANT'S  
FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Martin Diaz AT0002000  
1570 Shady Ct. NW  
Swisher, IA 52338  
(319) 339-4350  
[marty@martindiazlawfirm.com](mailto:marty@martindiazlawfirm.com)  
Attorney for Appellant**

**Natalie H. Cronk  
920 South Dubuque Street  
Iowa City, IA 52244  
(319) 351-8181

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

### INTRODUCTION

#### Cases:

*In re T.R.*, 460 N.W.2d 873, 876 (Iowa Ct. App. 1990)

*Grant v. IDHS*, 722 N.W.2d 169, 176 (Iowa 2006)

#### Statutes:

Iowa Code § 232.71B

Iowa Code § 232.71B(4)

Iowa Code § 232.71B(11)

Iowa Code § 235A.12

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT MISAPPLIED THIS COURT'S DECISION IN MINOR V. STATE IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS OF ABSOLUTE IMMUNITY.**

#### Cases:

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

*Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409 (1976).

*Minor v. State*, 819 N.W.2d 383 (Iowa 2012)

*Venckus v. City of Iowa*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)

#### Statutes:

42 U.S.C. §1983

### **II. THE DISTRICT COURT UTILIZED THE WRONG FRAMEWORK IN ERRONEOUSLY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON QUALIFIED IMMUNITY.**

#### Cases:

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)  
*Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Statutes:

42 USC §1983

**III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN GRANTING SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY PURSUANT TO THE DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION EXCEPTION OF IOWA CODE §669.14(1)?**

Cases:

*Berkovitz v. United States*, 486 U.S. 531 (1988)  
*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)  
*Callahan v. State*, 385 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 1986)  
*Ette v. Linn-Mar Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 656 N.W.2d 62 (Iowa 2002)  
*Goodman v. City of LeClaire*, 587 N.W.2d 232 (Iowa 1998)

Statutes:

Iowa Code § 232.71B  
Iowa Code §669.14(1)

**IV. THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT EXCEPTION OF IOWA CODE §669.14(4) CANNOT BE APPLIED TO AN INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CLAIM.**

Cases:

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)  
*Dickerson v. Mertz*, 547 N.W.2d 208 (Iowa 1996)  
*Minor v. State*, 819 N.W.2d 383 (Iowa 2012)  
*Smith v. Iowa State Univ.*, 851 N.W.2d (Iowa 2014)

Statutes:

Iowa Code Chapter 669  
Iowa Code § 669.14(4)

**V. THE IMMUNITY PROVIDED BY IOWA CODE §232.73 DOES NOT APPLY TO THESE DEFENDANTS. ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT IT DOES, THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT ON DEFENDANTS' BAD FAITH.**

Cases:

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)  
*Garvis v. Scholten*, 492 N.W.2d 402, 404 (Iowa 1992)  
*Green v. Racing Association of Central Iowa*, 713 N.W.2d 234 (Iowa 2006)  
*Howell v. Metro. Med. Lab., P.L.C.*, 2007 Iowa App. LEXIS 1161 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 15, 2007)  
*Hlubek v. Pelecky*, 701 N.W.2d 93 (Iowa 2005)  
*Maples v. Siddiqui*, 450 N.W.2d 529 (Iowa 1990)  
*Nelson v. Lindaman*, 867 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)  
*Teachout v. Forest City Community Sch. Dist.*, 584 N.W.2d 296 (Iowa 1998)

Statutes:

Iowa Code § 232.71B  
Iowa Code §232.73

**VI. THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT PRECLUDES SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ANDY'S TORT CLAIMS FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CUSTODY AND FOR INTENTIONAL INFLECTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.**

Cases:

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)  
*Kunau v. Pillers, Pillers & Pillers, P.C.*, 404 N.W.2d 573 (Iowa 1987)  
*J.C. v. County of Los Angeles*, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 168261  
*Meyer v. Nottger*, 241 N.W.2d 911 (Iowa 1976)  
*Smith v. Iowa State University*, 851 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)  
*Van Baale v. City of Des Moines*, 550 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1996)  
*Wood v. Wood*, 338 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 1983)  
*Wyatt v. McDermott*, 725 S.E.2d 555 (Va. 2012)

Other Authorities:

*Restatement of Torts, Second, §46, Comment b*  
*Restatement of Torts, Second, §46, Comment d*  
*Restatement of Torts, Second, §46, Comment e*  
*Restatement of Torts, Second, §46, Comment j*

*Restatement of Torts, Second, §700*

*Restatement of Torts, Third, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, §46*

**VII. GODFREY V. STATE OF IOWA APPLIES TO CLAIMS  
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE I, §1 OR ARTICLE I, §8 OF THE  
IOWA CONSTITUTION.**

Cases:

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Callahan v. State*, 385 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 1986)

*Christenson v. Ramaeker*, 366 N.W.2d 905 (Iowa 1985)

*Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

*Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)

*Gacke v. Pork Xtra, L.L.C.*, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)

*Godfrey v. State*, 898 NW2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Ochoa*, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

*State v. Osborne*, 154 N.W. 294 (Iowa 1915)

*United States v. Smith*, 581 F.3d 692 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009)

Statutes:

Iowa Code §232.73

Constitutional Provisions:

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 1

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 6

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 8

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 9

Other Authorities:

Grodin, *Rediscovering the State Constitutional Right to Happiness and Safety*, 25 Hastings Const. L.Q. 1 1997-1998

Pettys, *The Iowa State Constitution*, p. 67 (2018).

**VIII. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF PROCEDURAL  
AND SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS VIOLATIONS OF THE  
IOWA CONSTITUTION.**

Cases:

*Akins v. Epperly*, 588 F.3d 1178, 1184 (8th Cir. 2009)

*Al-Jurf v. Scott-Conner*, 2011 Iowa App. LEXIS 1094 (Iowa App. 2011) (unpublished).

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963).

*County of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833 (1998)

*Cippen v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

*Godfrey v. State*, 898 NW2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

*In the Interest of K.M.*, 653 N.W.2d 602 (2002).

*Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319 (1976)

*Santi v. Santi*, 633 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 2001)

*Sheeler v. Nev. Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 715 (Iowa App. 2018)

*Troxel v. Granville*, 507 U.S. 57 (2000)

*Wilson v. Lawrence County* 260 F.3d 946, (8th Cir. 2001)

Constitutional Provisions:

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 8

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 9

Treatises:

*Restatement of Torts, (Second)*, § 874A

Federal Statutes:

42 U.S.C. §1983

Other Authorities:

Levinson, *Time to Bury the Shocks the Conscience Test*, 13 Chap. L. Rev. 307, 308 (2010)

Tepker, *The Arbitrary Path of Due Process*, 53 Okla. L. Rev. 19 (2000)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it principally presents the application of existing legal principles in the context of a ruling on Summary Judgment. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**NATURE OF THE CASE:** This tort/constitutional tort action is brought by Andrew Lennette, individually and on behalf of his minor children (collectively “Andy”), arising out of the wrongful removal and continued separation of him from his home and his children under a false allegation of sexual abuse. The claim against Iowa DHS is for the wrongful removal of Andrew from his home and for a shockingly non-existent investigation of the wrongful allegations against him, all resulting in months long deprivation of and interference with his relationship with his children, with resulting trauma.

This case was before this Court on an unsuccessful Motion to Dismiss. *Lennette v. State*, 924 N.W.2d 878 (Iowa App. 2018). The case returns on a grant of summary judgment.

Andy asserts causes of action for Iowa constitutional torts and Iowa Chapter 669 common-law torts. The State sought summary judgment

contending that it was absolutely immune, qualifiedly immune, statutorily immune, and sovereignly immune.

**COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:** On January 2, 2017, Andy sued three IDHS employees and two nongovernmental defendants. The case was removed to Federal Court on February 10, 2017. After Andy dismissed federal claims against the IDHS employees and dismissed them as parties, the case was remanded back to State Court on August 28, 2017. After complying with Chapter 669, Andy refiled the lawsuit against the three IDHS employees on September 7, 2017, while adding the State of Iowa as a defendant.

On February 8, 2019, the Court consolidated the new action with the original action (Linn County LACV086771) and the two actions proceeded forward under both file numbers.

After the court dismissed the lawsuit against the remaining nongovernmental defendant (GCM), Andy requested that the Court sever the two actions to allow him to directly appeal the grant of summary judgment to GCM. The Court granted the motion to sever on May 28, 2020.

In the interim, on April 21, 2020, the State of Iowa moved for summary judgment. (App. 56). The court granted summary judgment on August 12, 2020. (App. 1144). On September 4, 2020, Andy filed his Notice of Appeal. (App. 1167).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

### A. BITTER CUSTODY DISPUTE

Andrew Lennette (“Andy”) married Holly Chisholm (“Holly”) and they had three minor children: C.L. (male) born in 2004; O.L. (male), born in 2006; and S.L (female), born in 2009. (App. 502).

But the story begins in August 2014, when the couples’ marital strife caused conflict within the family as Holly began to make threats and accusations to friends and family and to Andy, including allegations of infidelity and domestic assault by Andy. (App. 857-859; 862 and 875).

In September 2014, Holly absconded with the children to the State of Arkansas and enrolled the children in school there. (App. 537). In response, Andy filed for divorce. (App. 502). The Court ordered Holly to return the children within 48-hours. (App. 537).

On September 17, 2014, Andy raised concerns regarding Holly’s accusations of marital infidelity (including group sex) being made to his children. (App. 862-884).

Holly alleged for the first time that Andy had physically hurt the two boys. No allegation of sexual abuse or neglect was made. Holly provided no corroboration. (App. 909; App. 502-505).

On September 23, 2014, the Court awarded Andy and Holly joint legal custody without a primary caretaker. (App. 502-505).

In early October, while Andy was away, Holly initialed a call to the police alleging a “home invasion” potentially by Andy. Holly reported she

---

<sup>1</sup> The facts are submitted in the light most favorable to Andy. This is a sized down version of the facts taken from the Statement of Disputed Facts, which can be found in the Appendix.

was “going thru a divorce.... nasty.” When officers responded, the police indicated a possible 10-96 (psych patient). (App. 917, 927).

On October 23, 2014, Holly surreptitiously moved her mother into the marital residence. On November 21, 2014, Holly’s mother was ordered out of the home. (App. 933).

On December 12, 2014, Andy filed an affidavit about Holly’s campaign to “falsely characterize [Andy] as an abuser.... in an effort to receive the primary care of our children” with the goal of relocating them to Little Rock. (App. 936)

On December 16, 2014, the Court granted joint physical and legal custody of the children with the stated anticipation that Holly would obtain employment and leave the residence. (App. 482).

## **B. HOLLY’S EFFORTS TO SUPPORT HER CUSTODY CLAIM**

Holly embarked on a campaign to find a therapist or other health care provider that would support her escalating allegations against Andy. (App. 502, ¶21).

In October 2014, Holly saw Ms. Alshouse at Affiliates of Family Practice. (App. 950, p. 14). To Ms. Alshouse, *Holly’s presentation was so extreme, that Alshouse believed that she was suffering from possible Bi-Polar Disorder or Munchhausen’s disorder.* (App. 950, 961, 961-66) (emphasis added).

At the end of October 2014, Holly contacted therapist Lisa Hawk to provide therapy services to the children to assist them in processing the divorce. (App. 967, 970). Hawk testified that the children were very angry with their father due to mother’s accusations regarding him. According to

Hawk, C.L. and S.L. believed what their mother said was true. (App. 967, 974-75). Neither child reported sexual abuse. (App. 967, 975).

According to Hawk, the children were disclosing information their mother was reporting to them about mature matters. (App. 967, 976-77). In one session, S.L. specifically regurgitated information she had heard from her mother about an affair Andy was having. (App. 967, 978). Hawk testified that the children were receiving negative information from their mom, and only their mom. (App. 967, 980).

Hawk terminated her services to the family after Holly claimed that she no longer trusted her. (App. 967, 982).

In late November 2014, Holly brought C.L. to see a new therapist, Kyle Votroubek, at Grace C. Mae. (App. 343). Andy was unaware of this. (App. 494). GCM eventually provided therapy services to all three children. (App. 267-343).

Holly had been receiving individual counseling from GCM beginning in late July or early August 2014, and she continued to receive therapy throughout this time frame. (App. 534-536). No allegations of physical or sexual abuse were made by Holly or the children when therapy began. (App. 267-343).

On December 5, 2014, Holly took all three children out of school for an appointment with yet another therapist in Coralville, Lon Marshall. (App. 576; App. 989).

On that same day, Holly called Votroubek seeking information about childhood sexual development as well as signs and symptoms of child sexual abuse. Kyle asked Holly to tell him about any “abuse she feels the children have suffered.” Holly did not respond to the email. (App. 203). Kyle testified that none of the children exhibited any sexualized behaviors while

seeing him. (App. 547, 562-63).

Later that same day, Holly surreptitiously took S.L. to her pediatrician, Dr. Cearlock, seeking confirmation that a “bump” on S.L.’s mouth was evidence of an STD. (App. 994). Cearlock testified that Holly began prompting or reminding S.L. of what she needed to say to Cearlock and completed sentences for her. (App. 995, 1002-04). Cearlock testified that there was no independent evidence of physical or sexual abuse of any of the children. (App. 995, 999). Cearlock testified that he was never contacted by anyone from IDHS regarding the Lennette family. (App. 995, 997-98).

Shortly after the December 16, 2014 Court Order, Holly told Andy that the children were being seen at GCM. (App. 494).

On December 30, 2014, Andy provided GCM with all legal documents relating to the divorce and custody, including the orders relating to Holly absconding to Arkansas. (App. 568-573).

### **C. HOLLY SEEKS TO GET ANDY OUT OF THE HOUSE**

Four days after the Court ordered Holly to find a job and move out of the house, S.L. reported that “someone” told her that “someone” was going to be moving out of the house. (App. 1009 and App. 989).

On January 5, 2015, GCM received an email from Holly in which Holly made various claims of abuse that, if true, would constitute abuse. (App. 608). The email contained Holly’s “dump thoughts and observations” regarding behavior of the children allegedly occurring from September through December of 2014, six pages in length and titled “Things I’ve Thought Are Strange, Bad or Inappropriate”. (App. 608). Nevertheless, GCM did not file a report of possible abuse with DHS.

On January 6, 2015, S.L. “confidently” denied to the GCM therapist

that anyone touches her private areas. (App. 267). Votroubek specifically reported that he briefly processed this with Holly because *Holly* was concerned about alleged sexual behaviors. (App. 267).

On January 12, 2015, Holly reported to GCM that *two days prior, on January 10, 2015*, S.L. had made an allegation of sexual abuse to her. This included an allegation that the child had stated that her father “urinated” in her mouth. (App. 492).

On the morning of January 12, 2015, Andy put all three children on the school bus on his way to the airport. (App. 857, 861:5-24). Rather than immediately go to the authorities, Holly went about a normal day, sending the kids off to school. (App. 1013, 1016).

Holly made a visit at the end of the day to GCM and spoke with Bekah Andrews, an unlicensed social worker. Ms. Andrews sent an email to her colleague and made a report to DHS, while directing Holly to take S.L. to the ER. Her email was prepared at 4:45 pm. (App. 492).

Three hours later, at approximately 8:12 p.m., Holly arrived at St. Luke’s ER with S.L. for a “well child exam.” (App. 371).

According to the physician’s assistant, Jeff Cater, when Holly and S.L. arrived at the hospital, Holly did not report concern for sexual abuse at the front desk or to the triage nurse. It was not until Mr. Cater met Holly in the patient room that he became aware of some “vague” allegations of abuse. Cater testified that Holly and S.L.’s demeanor was calm, normal, unconcerned. (App. 1017, 1026-27). Mr. Cater found Holly’s behavior inconsistent with any alleged sexual abuse of a child that he had seen in his years of practice; in a word “inappropriate.” (App. 1017, 1030-31).

Cater questioned the veracity of the complaint, eventually noting in the chart “questionable abuse per mother’s report.” While he had his own

concerns about Holly's claims, he allowed the social worker and nurse to also evaluate the situation. In a conference after the visit, they all agreed upon the lack of veracity of the mother. (App. 1017, p. 1036-37) Mr. Cater testified that he "found her statements to be unbelievable, given the circumstances. Additionally, my staff found them to be unbelievable as well." (App. 1017, 1040).

Mr. Cater was never contacted by DHS. (App. 1017, 1038).

#### **D. DHS' NON-EXISTENT INVESTIGATION**

Melody Siver ("Siver") was employed by DHS as a Child Protection Worker. (App. 807). She had held that position with the Linn County DHS for 9.5 of her 17 years with DHS. (App. 807-808).

Amy Howell ("Howell") was employed by DHS as a CPW Supervisor. (App. 784, 786). Howell was Siver's direct supervisor. (App. 735, 741).

Valarie Lovaglia ("Lovaglia") was supervisor to Amy Howell. (App. 735, 741-42).

On January 13, 2015, Siver was assigned to investigate and complete an assessment regarding allegations of sexual abuse by Andy. (App. 807, 810). Siver was immediately aware of divorce and custody proceedings. (App. 807, 819). Siver admitted that such proceedings impact an assessment, and the information and its source should be considered. (App. 807, 819-20).

On January 13, 2015, Siver obtained background information solely from Holly. This was before S. L. was interviewed. (App. 223). Siver then observed the CPC interview of S.L. (App. 807, 812).

Holly's report of S.L.'s statements changed from what she told Bekah Andrews and St. Luke's on January 12, 2015, and what she told the CPC

staff and Siver on January 13, 2015. (Compare App. 492, 371 and 223).

The January 13, 2015 physical exam of S.L. at CPC showed no evidence of any physical or sexual abuse. (App. 223). Two days later, the boys were examined and interviewed. They had normal physical examinations and did not claim any abuse of any kind. (App. 1111).

**1. CPC Interview:**

Siver admitted there was no evidence of sexualized behaviors by S.L. besides Holly's report. (App. 735, 755-56).

Howell admitted that for purposes of a child's CPC interview, the assessment of the child's credibility is done by DHS. (App. 784, 786).

Howell admitted that she did not recall anyone making a credibility assessment with regard to the child. (App. 784, 801-02).

Siver claimed that the staff at CPC told her that S.L. was a credible witness. (App. 735, 766). However, the CPC report makes no claim as to the credibility of the child and makes no recommendation as to removal of the child or a parent. (App. 223, 230).

Moreover, CPC personnel testified they do not offer any recommendations as to what to do with the child, nor, contrary to Siver's testimony, do they make any credibility assessments of the child. (App. 844, 847-48).

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