IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 20-1148

---

ANDREW LENNETTE, Individually and on behalf of C.L., O.L., and  
S.L., minors,  
Plaintiff-Appellants,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA, MELODY SIVER, AMY HOWELL, and VALARIE  
LOVAGLIA,  
Defendant-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR LINN COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARY E. CHICCHELLY, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**NOAH GOERLITZ**  
**JOB MUKKADA**  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-6668  
(515) 281-8080  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
noah.goerlitz@ag.iowa.gov  
job.mukkada@ag.iowa.gov

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Lennette’s remaining claims include the following common law and constitutional claims: (1) tortious interference with custody; (2) intentional infliction of emotional distress; and (3) violations of Article I, §§ 1, 8, and 9 of the Iowa Constitution. The district court correctly concluded that the State is immune from all of Lennette’s common law

and constitutional claims pursuant to: (1) the judicial process immunity; (2) the limitations on the State's waiver of sovereign immunity in section 669.14; and (3) section 232.73 immunity. Affirming the district court on any one of these grounds would be dispositive. The district court also correctly concluded the State has qualified immunity for Lennette's constitutional claims. Finally, the district court correctly concluded the State is entitled to summary judgment on the merits of all of Lennette's claims.

**I. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment Based on Absolute and Qualified Immunity.**

**Preservation of Error**

The State agrees with Lennette that he preserved error on his judicial process absolute immunity argument. It is less clear whether Lennette preserved error on the qualified immunity argument.

“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.” *33 Carpenters Constr., Inc. v. State Farm Life and Cas. Co.*, 939 N.W.2d 69, 75 (Iowa 2020) (quoting *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)). “To preserve error for appeal after the district court fails to rule on the party's properly raised issue, the party must file a motion requesting a ruling,” and the Court

“routinely hold[s] that when an issue is raised in a motion but not decided in the district court ruling, the issue is not preserved for review.” *Id.* However, the Court will also “assume the district court rejected each defense to a claim on its merits, even though the district court did not address each defense in its ruling.” *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 539.

In the district court, Lennette argued in resistance to summary judgment that the proper standard was “all due care” and that the State did not establish the immunity. Lennette Brief in Support of MSJ Resistance at 44-46. In reply, the State applied the all due care standard and argued the evidence established it exercised all due care. State MSJ Reply at 5-6. The district court recognized both parties’ arguments regarding all due care when it granted summary judgment. App. 1154-55. Lennette did not move the district court to explicitly address the all due care argument before he appealed.

Accordingly, either: (1) Lennette did not preserve error because, as he argues, the district court failed to rule on the all due care argument; or (2) he did preserve error because the district court implicitly ruled that the State established it exercised all due care, and the issue is properly before this Court.

## **Standard of Review**

The State agrees with Lennette that Iowa appellate courts review grants of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3); Lennette Final Brief at 36, *Slaughter v. Des Moines Univ. Coll. Of Osteopathic Medicine*, 925 N.W.2d 793, 800 (Iowa 2019).

## **Merits**

The district court correctly held that: (1) the State has absolute immunity pursuant to the judicial process immunity for all claims; and (2) the State has pled and proven that it exercised all due care for actions taken prior to the juvenile court’s entry of its removal order.

### **A. The State Has Absolute Judicial Process Immunity for All Claims.**

The State is entitled to absolute immunity pursuant to the judicial process immunity for all acts giving rise to Lennette’s cause of action. Such immunity applies to both the common law claims and the constitutional claims. *Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 800 (Iowa 2019) (stating that “[i]t is well established the judicial process immunity applies to common law torts” and that “the judicial process immunity applies to state constitutional torts.”). The judicial process immunity “bars suit and damages against government officials

for conduct intimately associated with the judicial process.” *Id.* at 802. It exists to “benefit[] the public by protecting government officials involved in ‘the judicial process from the harassment and intimidation associated with litigation.” *Id.* at 801 (quoting *Minor v. State*, 819 N.W.2d 383, 394 (Iowa 2012)). “The immunity applies even when the [official] is accused of acting maliciously and corruptly . . . .” *Id.* at 804 (quoting *Blanton v. Barrick*, 258 N.W.2d 306, 308 (Iowa 1977)) (alteration in original).

In deciding whether a state actor is entitled to absolute immunity, Iowa courts use a functional approach “to determine whether those actions ‘fit within a common-law tradition of absolute immunity.” *Minor*, 819 N.W.2d at 3. That is, “[a] government official may be entitled to absolute immunity where the official performs a function analogous to that of a government official who was immune at common law.” *Id.* With respect to social workers, the Iowa Supreme Court stated:

We believe an appropriate application of the functional analysis prohibits us from making a broad decision about the type of immunity available to social workers when they file an affidavit allegedly containing false statements or misrepresentations. Accordingly, if the social worker is acting as a complaining witness, then the social worker is not entitled to absolute immunity because complaining witnesses were not absolutely immune at common law.

However, if the social worker is functioning as an ordinary witness, then the social worker is entitled to absolute immunity.

*Id.* at 397 (internal citations omitted).

Lennette argues on appeal that the district court failed to separate the State's acts as a complaining witness versus acts as an ordinary witness as set out in *Minor*. Lennette Final Brief at 39. But despite ample opportunity, it remains unclear which particular acts or omissions of the State Lennette argues were tortious, or even which conduct should be considered that of a complaining witness. *See* App. 127-134; Lennette Brief in Support of Resistance at 43; Lennette Final Brief at 38. The failure to identify specific facts should alone be fatal to Lennette's claims. *See Green v. Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa*, 713 N.W.2d 234, 245 (Iowa 2006) ("Our rules require a nonmoving party to identify the specific facts that show the existence of a genuine issue for trial. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(5)"). Even now, Lennette argues only in very broad terms that his "claims are premised on a non-existent investigation." Lennette Final Brief at 38 (emphasis removed). This argument is unsupported by any reference whatsoever to the record.

Lennette focuses on the State's conduct after the juvenile court entered its removal order and after the County Attorney filed the CINA

petition.<sup>2</sup> Such conduct is entitled to absolute immunity pursuant to the State’s conduct as “investigatory” to skirt around the judicial process immunity. However, Lennette’s theory is missing a crucial logical step. Despite numerous general complaints about why the “investigation” was flawed, Lennette does not state what *actions* the State should have taken had it performed an investigation that would have satisfied Lennette. While not stated explicitly, it seems the only actions Lennette contends the State should have taken would be to cease the CINA action. *See, e.g.*, Brief in Support of Resistance at 107 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 700 for proposition that DHS should have returned S.L. to Lennette).

This is precisely the sort of conduct the immunity was designed to protect. “[A]cts undertaken by a prosecutor in preparing for the initiation of judicial proceedings or for trial, and which occur in the course of his role as an advocate for the State, are entitled to the protections of absolute immunity. Those acts must include the professional evaluation of the evidence . . . and appropriate preparation for its presentation at trial . . . .” *Buckley v. Fitzsimmons*,

---

<sup>2</sup> The State’s conduct is the same in both cases: Siver’s affidavit was filed in both the application for ex parte order and in the County Attorney’s CINA petition. App. 1139-1143.

509 U.S. 259, 273 (1993). Indeed, Lennette’s theory here is the social-worker equivalent of the *Venckus* case, and this Court clearly held that such conduct is entitled to absolute immunity:

Venckus’s primary complaint is the prosecutor defendants continued a “reckless crusade” to convict Venckus in the face of “overwhelming evidence” of Venckus’s innocence. Venckus argues the prosecutors refused to drop the charges because they did not want to admit they had charged an innocent man. **However, the decisions to initiate a case and continue prosecution are at the core of the judicial process immunity. This is true without regard to motive or intent.**

*Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 804 (Iowa 2019) (emphasis added) (internal quotations and citations omitted). Like in *Venckus*, here Lennette appears to believe that the State continued the CINA proceeding in the face of evidence that Lennette did not abuse S.L. or, most charitably, Lennette believes: (1) the State performed an inadequate “investigation”; (2) had it performed an adequate investigation, it would have concluded Lennette did not abuse S.L.; and (3) therefore the State should have caused the county attorney to stop the CINA proceeding in juvenile court. And like the plaintiff in *Venckus*, Lennette must necessarily be arguing here that the State should have either: (1) themselves withdrawn the CINA petition; or (2) have caused the county attorney to drop the CINA petition. In either

case, such decisions are clearly entitled to the judicial process immunity, and the Court should affirm the district court’s conclusion that the State is entitled to absolute immunity for all of Lennette’s claims.

**B. The State Has Qualified Immunity for Constitutional Claims.**

In addition to absolute immunity, state actors are entitled to a form of qualified immunity for direct claims made under the Iowa Constitution. *Minor*, 819 N.W.2d at 400; *Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259, 279 (Iowa 2018). For a direct constitutional claim under the Iowa Constitution, defendants may “plead and prove as an affirmative defense that they exercised all due care to conform to the requirements of the law.” *Baldwin*, 915 N.W.2d at 279. This standard “bears resemblance to one of the immunities set forth in the ITCA . . . .” *Wagner v. State*, No. 19-1278, 2020 WL 7775949, at \*5 (Iowa Dec. 31, 2020) (citing Iowa Code § 669.14(1)) (emphasis removed).

Lennette relies on his expert report to argue Siver did not act with all due care. This reliance is curious—Lennette’s expert merely offers her opinion that Siver’s conduct amounted to “deliberate indifference.” Lennette also seems to argue—without support—that the

defense of “all due care” *requires* an expert. Lennette Final Brief at 40. A conclusory legal conclusion by a purported expert is not evidence. Indeed, such opinion testimony is not even admissible in this case—this expert has offered no admissible testimony that would assist the fact-finder in determining whether the State committed intentional or constitutional torts, much less whether the State exercised all due care.

Lennette’s expert also opines that Siver “failed to follow the law.” First, whether Siver complied with Iowa law is a question for the Court, not for Lennette’s expert—and Lennette’s expert in any event is not an expert in compliance with Iowa law. But more importantly, Lennette’s expert does not even attempt to identify what law was not complied with, nor how it was not complied with. Such conclusory allegations are not evidence showing Siver failed to act with all due care. The Court must look at Siver’s actions as laid out in the State’s statement of facts: Siver received the abuse report, organized and observed an interview conducted by experts at the CPC, deemed S.L.’s allegations to be credible, and sought a temporary removal order. These actions prove Siver acted with all due care. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the district court that the State has qualified immunity for the alleged constitutional torts.

## **II. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment Based on Sovereign Immunity.**

### **Preservation of Error**

The State agrees that Lennette preserved on this ground.

### **Standard of Review**

The State agrees with Lennette that the Court reviews for errors at law.

### **Merits**

The State has not waived its sovereign immunity for any of Lennette's remaining claims: tortious interference with custody, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and violations of the Iowa Constitution. Under common law, the State of Iowa had sovereign immunity from torts committed by State employees. *See Rivera v. Woodward Res. Cntr.*, 830 N.W.2d 724, 727 (Iowa 2013); *see also Wagner*, 2020 WL 7775949, at \*8-9. The legislature partially waived the immunity, but only as provided under Iowa Code Chapter 669, the Iowa Tort Claims Act ("ITCA"). *See Rivera*, 830 N.W.2d at 727 ("[The ITCA] covers all tort claims against the state, subject to exceptions identified by the legislature."). Thus, while the ITCA gives private citizens the right to sue the State and its employees acting within the scope of their employment, it does so only to the extent to which

consent has been given by the legislature. *Id.* Lennette brought his tort claims under the ITCA. *See* Petition ¶ 170; App. 142. If the defendant is “an employee of the state acting within the scope of the employee’s office or employment at the time of the incident upon which the claim is based, the suit commenced upon the claim shall be deemed to be an action against the state under the provisions of this chapter[.]” Iowa Code § 669.5(2)(a).

Lennette’s claims against Siver, Howell, and Lovaglia arise from conduct they took in their role as DHS employees. Lennette does not allege in the petition or produce any admissible evidence that the named Defendants acted outside the scope of their employment. In fact, the named Defendants’ actions complained of in this suit could only occur if they acted within the scope of their employment. *See Godfrey*, 847 N.W.2d at 587 (“When there is no factual dispute as to whether the employee was acting within the scope of his or her employment, the certification procedure relieves the employee of personal liability by substituting the State as the only defendant.”). Therefore, Lennette’s claims are against the State and are subject to the ITCA, including the exceptions outlined in Iowa Code § 669.14.

Iowa Code § 669.14 outlines certain claims for which the State

has not waived its sovereign immunity. Lennette's claims are excepted under: (1) Iowa Code § 669.14(1), the discretionary function exception; and (2) Iowa Code § 669.14(4) as the functional equivalent of misrepresentation and deceit.<sup>3</sup>

**A. Lennette's Claims are Barred Pursuant to the Discretionary Function Exception**

Lennette argues that: (1) Iowa Code § 232.71B divests the State of discretion and the State's actions were not the type of decision the immunity was designed to protect; and (2) the discretionary function exception does not apply to intentional torts. Lennette is incorrect.

**1. *The State Exercised its Discretion, and the Discretionary Function Exception was Intended to Apply to Such Decisions.***

---

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